IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

CASE NO. SC03-1528

Petitioner, LT Case No. 4D02-1875

v.

ANTHONY FRIERSON,

Respondent.

> CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL Tallahassee, Florida CELIA TERENZIO BUREAU CHIEF, WEST PALM BEACH Florida Bar No. 0656879 DANIEL P. HYNDMAN Florida Bar No. 0814113 Assistant Attorney Generals Florida Bar No.: 0814113 1515 North Flagler Drive Suite 900 West Palm Beach, FL 33401 (561) 837-5000

Counsel for Petitioner

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, State of Florida, was the prosecution in the trial court and Appellant the Fourth District Court of Appeal. Petitioner will be referred to herein as "the Petitioner" of "State". Respondent, Anthony Frierson, was the defendant in the trial court and Appellant in the Fourth District Court of Appeal. Respondent will be referred to as "the Respondent" or "Frierson".

The following symbols will be used:

R = Record on Appeal

T = Transcript of Trial Court Proceedings

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Respondent was charged, by information, with Felon in Possession of a Firearm (R 9). He filed a motion to suppress evidence (R 28-33) and a supplemental motion to suppress (R 48-53); several evidentiary hearings were held on the motions and the trial court - - in a written order - - denied the Respondent's motion to suppress¹ (R 81-91). The Respondent then filed a motion for reconsideration (R 92-95), which was denied by the trial court (R 96-98). Thereafter, the Respondent pled "nolo contendere" to the offense, reserving his right to appeal the order of the trial court (R 103-105; T 243-265, plea hearing). The trial court specifically found that the motion was dispositive (T 263), adjudicated the Respondent guilty and sentenced him to 3 years in the Department of Corrections, staying imposition of the sentence pending appeal (R 99-101; T 257-263). The Respondent appealed and the Fourth District Court of Appeal ("Fourth District") found that the trial court should motion to suppress have granted the and reversed the Respondent's conviction and sentence. Frierson v. State, 851 So. 2d 293 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003). Conflict with <u>State v. Foust</u>, 262 So. 2d 686 (Fla. 3d DCA 1972) was certified. Frierson at 300.

¹ The trial court originally granted the Respondent's motion (R 75-78), but then vacated that order upon the State's motion for reconsideration (R 80).

In its opinion, the Fourth District set forth the findings of fact made by the trial court after the evidentiary hearings:

> [O]n July 8, 2001, the defendant was driving an automobile at the intersection of Old Dixie Highway and Northlake Boulevard in Lake Park, Florida. The vehicle in which the defendant was riding was stopped at a traffic light facing north on Old Dixie Highway. Officer Steven Miller was stopped behind the defendant's vehicle. Upon the traffic light turning green, the defendant made left hand turn onto Northlake а Officer Miller testified that Boulevard. the defendant did not use a left turn signal prior to or during the left hand turn. Officer Miller also testified that neither he nor the drivers of other vehicles were affected by the defendant's failure to use a turn signal while making that turn. The officer's testimony also indicated that he observed a white light emanating from a crack in the plastic lens covering the tail light of the left rear of the defendant's vehicle. Officer Miller acknowledged that the plastic lens was cracked, but that the light was operating.

> Because the defendant failed to use a turn signal in making his left hand turn and because white light was emanating from a crack in the plastic lens covering the taillight, Officer Miller effected a traffic stop of the defendant's vehicle. Upon being stopped by Officer Miller, the defendant provided the officer with identification. Officer Miller ran a check on the defendant, and learned that there was an outstanding warrant for the defendant's arrest for failure to appear in another proceeding. As a result of the outstanding warrant, the defendant was arrested. A search incident

to the defendant's arrest revealed the firearm which formed the basis of the charge against him in this case. A subsequent investigation determined that the warrant which provided the basis for the defendant's arrest was issued due to another person's failure to appear. Someone other than the defendant was issued a notice to appear in the other case and wrongfully gave the issuing officer the defendant's name and date of birth. A fingerprint was taken of the individual to whom the notice to appear was issued. It is undisputed the print taken did not match that of the defendant's.

Frierson at 295-295.

The trial court found that based on this Court's decisions in <u>Doctor v. State</u>, 596 So. 2d 442 (Fla. 1992), and <u>State v.</u> <u>Riley</u>, 638 So. 2d 507 (Fla. 1994), that the traffic stop was illegal (R 82-84). However, the court, citing <u>Foust</u>, in addition to <u>Wong Sung v. United States</u>, 371 U.S. 471 (1963), and <u>United States v. Green</u>, 111 F. 3d 515 (7th Cir. 1997), found that "the fact that the defendant was illegally stopped by the arresting officer does not require suppression of the seized evidence because of the outstanding warrant for the defendant's arrest" (R 87). The trial court also found that even though the warrant was issued as a result of a person falsely providing the Respondent's name, "the arresting officer acted in good faith in acting upon the outstanding warrant for the defendant's arrest" (R 91). The trial court concluded that the evidence should not

<u>- 3 -</u>

be excluded since the warrant, albeit erroneous, " . . . was not issued through police misconduct or negligence"; "[r]ather it was through the wrongful actions of a private citizen" (R 91).

The Fourth District, in the instant decision, agreed with the trial court that the stop was without legal basis, adopting the trial court's reasoning that <u>Doctor</u> and <u>Riley</u> - - with "nearly identical" facts - - necessitated that conclusion. <u>Frierson</u> at 295-296. The Fourth District also agreed with the trial court that the arresting officer justifiably relied on the outstanding, but erroneously issued, warrant in arresting the Respondent. <u>Id</u>. at 297-299. However, the Fourth District disagreed with the trial court that the existence of the outstanding warrant attenuated the illegality of the traffic stop, and found "that the trial judge should have granted the motion to suppress the firearm because the initial traffic stop was not supported by reasonable cause." <u>Id</u>. at 300.

- 4 -

SUMMARY ARGUMENT

Point I. The trial court and the Fourth District incorrectly concluded that the stop of the Respondent was without lawful basis. Officer Miller had reasonable cause to believe that the Respondent's turn signal was broken based on the Respondent's failure to use the signal and visible damage to the lens on the taillight. Miller was authorized to stop the Respondent pursuant to section 316.610 in order to submit the vehicle to an inspection. Additionally, the Respondent was in violation of section 316.234(1) since a white - - rather than a red or amber - - light emanated from the brake lights of his vehicle.

This Court's decision in <u>Doctor</u> is clearly distinguishable and was misapplied by the lower courts. In <u>Doctor</u>, law enforcement did not have a basis to stop the defendant because a traffic violation was not observed. However, in the instant case, Officer Miller observed a traffic violation and had reasonable cause to believe that the Respondent's turn signal was not in proper repair as required by law.

Point II. Even assuming the traffic stop was without lawful basis, the Respondent's motion to suppress was properly denied by the trial court. Officer Miller relied in good faith on the outstanding warrant for the Respondent's arrest. The warrant

<u>- 5 -</u>

was issued as a result of the misconduct of a private citizen, not through the error of law enforcement. Furthermore, the trial court properly found that the existence of this warrant attenuated the taint of the arguably illegal stop of the Respondent and the Fourth District erred in reversing the order of the trial court.

Conflict should be resolved in favor of <u>Foust</u>. The trial court and the special concurrence in <u>Frierson</u> correctly recognize that there is no "but for" test for suppression of evidence seized as a result of an unlawful stop. Rather, the issue is whether there is an intervening event - - such as an outstanding warrant - - which attenuates the taint of the illegal stop. An application of the factors outlined in the <u>Green</u> decision favors the admission of the firearm which was seized from the Respondent as a result of his arrest on the outstanding warrant. The decision of the Fourth District should therefore be reversed.

<u>- 6 -</u>

ARGUMENT

<u>Point I</u>

THE TRIAL COURT AND THE FOURTH DISTRICT INCORRECTLY CONCLUDED THAT THE TRAFFIC STOP WAS WITHOUT A LAWFUL BASIS; <u>DOCTOR</u> WAS MISAPPLIED BY THE LOWER COURTS

The Petitioner respectfully submits that the conclusions reached by the trial court and the Fourth District that the traffic stop in the instant case was without a legal basis was incorrect. The trial court made the correct factual conclusion that Officer Miller stopped the Respondent's car because the Respondent "did not use a left turn signal prior to or during the left hand turn" and that the officer "observed a white light emanating from the crack in the plastic lens covering the tail light of the left rear of the [Respondent's] vehicle." Frierson at 294. These are valid reasons to stop a motorist in Florida. "Any police officer may at any time, upon reasonable cause to believe that a vehicle is unsafe or not equipped as required by law, or that its equipment is not in proper adjustment or repair, require the driver to stop and submit the vehicle to an inspection . . . " Section 316.610(1), Florida Statutes. Based upon the Respondent's failure to use a turn signal, combined with obvious damage to the tail light, Officer Miller had reasonable cause to believe that the turn signal was not in

<u>- 7 -</u>

proper repair.

In Florida, an officer may make a traffic stop for inoperable tail lights and damaged equipment. See, <u>State v.</u> <u>Snead</u>, 707 So. 2d 769 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998)(officer has probable cause to stop based on improper or unsafe equipment, namely, an inoperable tail light); <u>Scott v. State</u>, 710 So. 2d 1378 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998)(officer has probable cause to stop for inoperable turn signal even if defendant testifies that the turn signal was working); <u>Smith v. State</u>, 735 So. 2d 570 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999)(a cracked windshield may justify a traffic stop).

The Petitioner respectfully submits that the trial court, as well as the Fourth District, incorrectly applied this Court's decision in <u>Doctor</u> in concluding that the traffic stop in the instant case was without lawful basis. In <u>Doctor</u>, this Court concluded that the stop was illegal; the state troopers in that case stopped Doctor's car because of defective taillights and relied on section 316.610, Florida Statutes. This Court found that this section, in that particular case, must be read in conjunction with section 316.221(1) which specifies that every motor vehicle shall be equipped with at least two taillamps mounted on the rear, which, when lighted, emit a red light plainly visible. In that case:

The evidence at trial revealed that

<u>- 8 -</u>

Doctor's vehicle was equipped with two sets of rear lights consisting of a signal light on the outside of the light bank, then a brake light, then a reverse light, and finally a lens cover, or reflector. (FN3) It was the reflector that was cracked, rather than one of the lights. Trooper Burroughs confirmed that the vehicle had taillights shining on each side of the rear of the vehicle, despite the cracked lens cover, at the time of the stop. Thus, as Trooper Burroughs conceded, the vehicle had "at least two taillamps" in working order when it was pulled and was not in violation of the law.

<u>Id</u>. at 446-447 (emphasis added). In the footnote, this Court observed that the cracked reflector "was not designed to cover a lighting apparatus, but was merely a reflector to reflect rather than emit light." This Court concluded that a "reasonable officer would have known the statutory requirements for taillights" and that Doctor's vehicle "was in compliance with the law since red taillights were visible on both ends of the vehicle." <u>Id</u>. at 447. Consequently, there was no valid basis for the traffic stop. <u>Id</u>.

However, in the instant case, there was a "crack in the plastic lens covering the tail light of the left rear of the defendant's vehicle", and "white light was emanating from this crack." <u>Frierson</u> at 294. Unlike <u>Doctor</u>, this lens was designed to cover a light; it was not "merely a reflector". <u>Doctor</u> at 447. In the instant case, it was the combination of the cracked

<u>-9-</u>

left taillight and the Respondent's failure to use his left hand turn signal which caused Officer Miller to stop him. <u>Frierson</u> at 294.

Q: . . Now what did you observe that basically struck your eye?

A: . . I was behind the vehicle and noticed that the equipment in the back, the brake light area, the taillight area was damaged. And also that he was making a left hand turn to turn on to Northlake Boulevard. There was no signal.

Q: . . . Could you be a little more specific as to how the turn signal was damaged?

A: Well, I don't know if the signal was actually damaged or if he failed to put it on, but there was no signal activated when he took the turn.

Q: But was there something wrong with the light itself?

A: The lenses were all cracked up in the back.

Q: What do you mean, the lenses; you mean the red glass that covers the light?

A: Yes.

Q: The turn signal?

A: Yes, sir. It was on the left-hand side of the vehicle.

Q: . . . So was it removed completely, was it cracked or was it - -

A: They weren't removed completely, they were just damaged. I don't know if it was

weather or just from a accident or whatnot, but whatever the case was, that's the reason why I stopped the vehicle to inquire about it.

(T 12-14; Direct Examination of Officer Miller). Therefore, it was the combination of the lack of use of the turn signal (albeit not legally required) and the visible damage to the turn signal lens which gave Miller reasonable cause to believe that the Respondent's vehicle had equipment which was not in proper adjustment or repair and could be stopped for inspection pursuant to section 316.610(1). Furthermore, turn signals are required by sections 316.222(2) and 316.234(2), Florida Statutes.

The record also establishes that there was a white light emanating from the vehicle's brake lights in violation of section 316.234(1), Florida Statutes, which requires that stop lamps in the rear of the vehicle shall display a red or amber light:

> Q: Were you able to tell whether Mr. Frierson was going to continue straight or was going to turn left? A: I could not. Q: Why could you not tell that? A: There was no turn signal on his vehicle. * * *

> > <u>- 11 -</u>

Q: All right. Can you describe the rear of the vehicle where the left turn signal is located on Mr. Frierson's vehicle, the condition it was when this was taking place to His Honor?

A: It is of a square, elongated box set of lights and it stops by the licence plate and continues to the other side. The actual tail light section, brake light section and then reverse lights section which would be white and then the red color.

Q: So you are saying there is a red color lens?

A: Correct.

Q: Now, was there in fact a red colored lens cover - - that section on Mr. Frierson's vehicle?

A: Yes, but it wasn't complete. There was a white light illuminating from stepping on the brakes, there was white light illuminating the brake lights more which should be red.

Q: So the left side of Mr. Frierson's vehicle there was no red light illuminating from that taillight section?

A: That is correct. It was daytime so the taillights weren't on but when you step on the brakes the brake light comes on, there is a white light illuminating from that area which should have been red.

Q: There is a red light on the other side of the vehicle?

A: Yes, there was.

* * *

Q: And could you tell His Honor what was the basis of the traffic stop?

A: For both of the reasons I just said because of the signal and because of the fact that that white light was illuminating as opposed to the red light.

(T 115-118)(Direct Examination of Officer Miller)(emphasis added). Clearly, the Respondent was in violation of section 316.234(1), Florida Statutes, which requires that vehicles "shall be equipped with a stop lamp or lamps in the rear of the vehicle which shall display a red or amber light . . ." Since the Respondent's car emitted a white - - rather than a red or amber - - light from his brake lights, he was in actual violation of the traffic laws. Consequently, <u>Doctor</u> cannot control, and the lower courts erred in their reliance on that decision.

The lower courts also relied on this Court's decision in <u>State v. Riley</u>, 638 So. 2d 507 (Fla. 1994). However, <u>Riley</u> holds that the use of turn signal is only required whenever other vehicles may be affected by the turn. <u>Id</u>. at 508. Although the Respondent may not have been legally required to use his turn signal in this case, his lack of the use of a turn signal in a situation where a signal would normally be used, taken in combination to the visible damage to the taillights, gave Officer Miller reasonable cause to believe that the

<u>- 13 -</u>

Respondent's turn signal was inoperable. Therefore, <u>Riley</u> is clearly not controlling.

In the instant case, Officer Miller had reasonable cause to stop the Respondent based on the Respondent's failure to use a turn signal coupled with the fact that the rear lights of the Respondent's vehicle were obviously damaged. These facts gave Officer Miller reasonable cause to believe that the Respondent's vehicle was not in proper repair. Furthermore, the white light which emanated from the Respondent's brake lights was a clear violation of section 316.234(1), Florida Statutes. Unlike <u>Doctor</u>, the Respondent was in violation of Florida traffic laws. Consequently, <u>Doctor</u> was misapplied in the instant case. The decision of the Fourth District holding that the stop of the Respondent was without legal basis should therefore be reversed.

<u>Point II</u>

EVEN ASSUMING THE STOP OF THE RESPONDENT WAS WITHOUT LEGAL BASIS, THE RESPONDENT WAS PROPERLY ARRESTED ON THE OUTSTANDING WARRANT AND IT WAS ERROR TO SUPPRESS THE FIREARM DISCOVERED AS A RESULT OF A SEARCH INCIDENT TO THE ARREST; CONFLICT SHOULD BE RESOLVED IN FAVOR OF FOUST

In the instant case, the Fourth District correctly found that Officer Miller justifiably relied on the outstanding warrant in arresting the Respondent - - notwithstanding the fact

<u>- 14 -</u>

that the warrant was issued because another person gave the Respondent's name as his own. <u>Frierson</u> at 297. The record established that the person who was previously stopped did not have a driver's license and gave the Respondent's name, address, and date of birth as his own. <u>Id</u>. A computer check at the time revealed that this information matched the information on the Respondent's driver's license record and that the Respondent's license was currently suspended. <u>Id</u>. This person was issued a uniform traffic citation and notice to appear and a thumbprint was taken; when this person failed to appear for court, an arrest warrant was issued for the Respondent. <u>Id</u>.

The trial court and the Fourth District cited the Supreme Court of the United State's decisions in <u>United States v. Leon</u>, 468 U.S. 897, 104 S. Ct. 3405 (1984), and <u>Arizona v. Evans</u>, 514 U.S. 1, 115 S. Ct. 1185 (1995), in concluding that:

> When one applies the factors considered by the [United States Supreme] Court in Leon and Evans, it is clear that the good faith exception should apply in the instant case . . . the exclusionary rule was designed to deter police misconduct. Any misconduct in the present case stemmed from the actions of private citizen, not the actions of а individuals or entities associated with the Excluding the evidence state. in the present case will not have a deterrent effect on private citizens who falsely identify themselves to the police. Nor could the threat of exclusion of the evidence under these facts be expected to

> > <u>- 15 -</u>

deter private individuals from continuing to provide false information upon encounters with the police.

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