IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

vs.

CASE NO. SC03-1528

ANTHONY FRIERSON,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

CAREY HAUGHWOUT
Public Defender
15th Judicial Circuit

MARCY K. ALLEN
Assistant Public Defender
Attorney for Anthony Frierson
Criminal Justice Building
421 Third Street, 6th Floor
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401
(561) 355-7600
Florida Bar No. 332161

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

The point was fully reviewed by the Fourth District Court of Appeal and the Circuit Court's findings were affirmed. 851 So. 2d at 295-295. It is outside the parameters of the certified conflict, See Point II, infra, and the merits should not be reached. See, Ross v. State, 601 So. 2d 1190, 1193 (Fla. 1992)("The remaining issues lie beyond the scope of the issue for which jurisdiction lies, and we see no need to exercise our prerogative to reach them."); Salters v. State, 758 So. 2d 667, 669 n.5 (Fla. 2000) ("These additional claims are clearly outside the scope of the certified conflict issue, and we decline to address them."); Welsh v. State, 850 So. 2d 467, 471

n.6 (Fla. 2003) ("We decline to address the other issues raised by Welsh that are not the basis of our jurisdiction."); Wood v. State, 750 So. 2d 592, 595 n. 3 (Fla. 1999) (declining to address issues beyond the scope of the certified conflict); Raford v. State, 828 So. 2d 1012, 1021 n.12 (Fla. 2002) ("We decline to address the other issues raised by petitioner because they are beyond the scope of the certified conflict in this case."); Barnett v. Barnett, 768 So. 2d 441 n.1 (Fla. 2000) ("We decline to address petitioner's second issue on appeal because it is beyond the scope of the certified conflict in this case."); <u>Jones v. State</u>, 759 So. 2d 681, 682 n.1 (Fla. 2000) ("Further, we decline to address Jones' ineffective assistance of trial counsel claim here, as the Third District fully addressed that claim in the decision below and the claim clearly is outside the scope of the certified conflict before us."); Williams v. State, 759 So. 2d 680 n.1 (Fla. 2000) ("Moreover, we decline to address Williams' claim challenging the Third District's interpretation of section 775.084(1)(c)1., Florida Statutes (1997), which is clearly outside the scope of the certified conflict issue."). A conservative application of discretionary review in this instance is in keeping with the general premise that, as a case "travels up the judicial ladder, review should consistently become narrower, not broader."

Haines City Community Dev. v. Heggs, 658 So. 2d 523, 530 (Fla.
1995); The Florida Bar re Williams, 718 So. 2d 773, 778 n. 5
(Fla. 1998).

On the merits, both the Circuit Court and the Fourth District Court of Appeal correctly applied this Court's decision in <u>State v. Riley</u>, 638 So. 2d 507 (Fla. 1994), it's progeny and <u>Doctor v. State</u>, 596 So. 2d 442 (Fla. 1992). Neither drew a renegade conclusion.

When the officer observed Mr. Frierson's vehicle stopped at an intersection, the brake lights were operable. The left lens cover was "just damaged," cracked but not completely removed (T-12, 14, 117, 128-131). The crack did not affect the light bulb since white light could be seen (T-128-131). Since a portion of the lens cover was still in place and the light bulb worked, it stood to reason that red light could also be seen.

These facts were characterized as "nearly identical" to those in <u>Doctor</u> in the trial court's written order (R-84) which was quoted in the Fourth's District's opinion:

The facts in <u>Doctor</u> are also nearly identical to the facts in the present case. Officer Miller did not testify that the red lens cover was missing from the vehicle. Rather, he testified that it was cracked, and as a result, he observed white light emanating through the crack. In <u>Doctor</u>, the Supreme Court held that such a defect was not violative of the law and was not a valid basis to conduct a traffic stop.

<u>Frierson v. State</u>, 851 So. 2d at 295. Approval of the trial court's application of the law to the facts is warranted based upon this excerpt from <u>Doctor</u>:

It was the reflector that was cracked, rather than one of the lights. Trooper Burroughs confirmed that the vehicle had taillights shining on each side of the rear of the vehicle, despite the cracked lens cover, at the time of the stop. Thus, as Trooper Burroughs conceded, the vehicle had "at least two taillamps" in working order when it was pulled and was not in violation of the law.... [A] reasonable officer would have known that Doctor's vehicle was in compliance with the law since red taillights were visible on both ends of the vehicle.

<u>Doctor v. State</u>, 596 So. 2d at 446-447. Therefore, neither the Circuit Court nor the Fourth District went astray in holding that the officer's observation of the cracked lens cover did not support the traffic stop since part of the cover remained and the light itself was operable.

Petitioner attempts to distinguish <u>Doctor</u> maintaining that it concerned a cracked reflector while the instant case involves a cracked lens cover. (Petitioner's Brief at page 9). This is a distinction without a difference.

In <u>Doctor</u>, just as in the instant case, the state did not present evidence that the light itself was inoperable. Rather and at the risk of being repetitious, the Fourth District's opinion recognized that in <u>Doctor</u>, there was a "crack in the

innermost lens of the left taillight assembly." Frierson v. State, 596 So. 2d at 446. Here, the lens cover was cracked but not removed completely (T-12, 14, 117, 129-130). Since a portion of the red lens covered the left brake light, one can infer red light shone through even though white light also emitted. Therefore, as in <u>Doctor</u>, the equipment was in compliance with the law which requires rear mounted taillamps that emit a red light. § 316.221(1) Fla. Stat.

When the green left turn arrow appeared on the traffic signal, Mr. Frierson made a left turn (T-127). In executing the turn, he did not interfere with traffic but simply followed the signal's direction (T-22-23, 127-128). Based upon State v. Riley, 638 So. 2d at 507, the Fourth District agreed with the Circuit Court that Section 316.155(1) Florida Statute was not violated because the statute requires that the operator activate his turn signal "in the event any other vehicle may be affected by the movement." Frierson v. State, 851 So. 2d at 295-296.

In <u>Riley</u>, this court addressed the requirements of Section 316.155 <u>Florida Statute</u>:

If no other vehicle is affected by a turn from the highway, then a signal is not required by the statute. If a signal is not required, then a traffic stop predicated on failure to use a turn signal is illegal and any evidence obtained as a result of that stop must be suppressed.

638 So. 2d at 508. Since the instant facts fall squarely within the <u>Riley</u> holding, both the Circuit Court and the Fourth District correctly concluded that officer Miller's traffic stop was illegal.

Last, Petitioner claims that the officer was justified in stopping appellant's vehicle to inspect the equipment. The circumstances, however, did not warrant such a detention. Both sets of brake lights were operable (T-14, 128-130). Taillights were not in question because it was daytime (T-116-117). And the turn signal should not have given cause for concern since Mr. Frierson executed the turn in accordance with the green turn arrow and without impeding other traffic (T-22-23, 127-128)¹

These facts as found by the Circuit Court distinguish this case from State v. Snead, 707 So. 2d 769 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998) (inoperable taillight and inoperable brake light); Smith v. State, 735 So. 2d 570 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999) (cracked windshield) and Scott v. State, 710 So. 2d 1378 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998)(officer

¹On page 11 of its brief, Petitioner quotes from officer Miller's direct examination. The following was omitted by the use of ellipses:

Q. When you say there was no turn signal can you explain to His Honor more what you mean by that there was not turn signals?

A. Well, appeared from me, from behind the vehicle either, one, he did not turn his signal on; or two, there was maybe some sort of malfunction thing turning it on, or it just wasn't a signal from the back. (T-116).

had probable cause to stop defendant where trial court made factual finding that turn signal was inoperable).

Based upon the evidence adduced at the hearing, the trial court made factual findings and determined that the traffic stop of Mr. Frierson was illegal. The Fourth District Court of Appeal carefully reviewed the issue and determined that the trial court's conclusion was correct. Petitioner has not advanced any reason to disturb the decision of the appellate court. Thus, and bearing in mind that this issue is outside the certified conflict and need not even be reached, the Frierson opinion should be affirmed.

POINT II

THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL COR-RECTLY HELD THAT THE EVIDENCE MUST BE SUP-PRESSED WHERE RESPONDENT WAS STOPPED ILLE-GALLY

Conflict with <u>State v. Foust</u>, 262 So. 2d 686 (Fla. 3d DCA 1972) was certified to this Court by the Fourth District Court of Appeal on the question of whether evidence must be suppressed where after an illegal stop of a citizen, an outstanding warrant is discovered. <u>Frierson v. State</u>, 851 So. 2d 293, 300 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003). Respondent suggests that examination of the jurisdictional basis as well as the character of the warrant is prudent prior to reaching this question.

Regarding discretionary jurisdiction, Respondent presented a similar argument by way of motion to dismiss. In reiterating this claim, emphasis is upon the application of Rozier v. State, 368 So. 2d 379 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979) to consideration of whether conflict exists. Rozier, a case out of the Third District Court of Appeal, was not cited by Respondent in the motion to dismiss.

Foust does not conflict expressly and directly with Frierson. The two decisions are in harmony with one another. Absent express and direct conflict, this Court should exercise its discretionary jurisdiction to decline review.

In <u>Frierson v. State</u>, 851 So. 2d at 293, the Fourth District Court of Appeal approved the trial court's determination that

Mr. Frierson was illegally detained based upon an unlawful traffic stop. After the illegal detention, the arresting officer determined that there was an outstanding warrant for "Anthony Frierson" which was issued when an imposter failed to appear in court for a no valid driver licence charge. A search incident to arrest based upon the invalid but outstanding warrant yielded a firearm. The appellate court held that the firearm was fruit of the illegal detention and should have been suppressed.

In <u>Rozier v. State</u>, 368 So. 2d at 379, the Third District Court of Appeal which had already decided <u>Foust</u>, reached the same conclusion as the <u>Frierson</u> court. Mr. Rozier was unlawfully stopped without founded suspicion. An outstanding bench warrant was discovered and a search of the defendant's person ensued. The Third District held that the motion to suppress should have been granted because initial stop was illegal.

In 1999, the Third District cited its <u>Rozier</u> opinion in <u>Hernandez v. State</u>,784 So. 2d 1124, 1133-1134 (Fla. 3d DCA 1999) for the proposition that "[t]he subsequent discovery of this incriminating evidence by other police officers simply does not vitiate the illegality of the initial stop of Hernandez by Officer Surlow. See <u>Libby v. State</u>, 561 So. 2d 1253 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990); <u>Kimbrough v. State</u>, 539 So. 2d 619 (Fla. 4th DCA

1989); Rozier v. State, 368 So. 2d 379 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979)."

Thus, when squarely faced with the effect of the discovery of an outstanding warrant after an illegal detention, the Third District, like the Fourth District, has held that the evidence must be suppressed.

Unlike the <u>Frierson</u> and <u>Rozier</u> opinions, the Third District in <u>Foust</u> did not address the issue of whether the initial detention was unsupported by a founded suspicion and the opinion does not set forth the underlying facts. After holding that a search incident to arrest based upon outstanding bench warrants was lawful, the Third District wrote:

[T]he reasonableness of the search after arrest was not affected by the fact that the original stopping of appellee may have been without probable cause.

<u>Foust v. State</u>, 262 So. 2d at 688. It is this sentence which was relied upon by the Fourth District to certify conflict.

<u>Frierson v. State</u>, 851 So. 2d at 300.

To conclude that the cases are in conflict, however, one must assume that Foust's initial detention was unsupported by founded suspicion. Absent a discussion of the legality of the detention, one can not speculate that the stop was illegal as unsupported by founded suspicion. Instead, it appears that the Third District simply rejected an incorrect defense argument

that a stop requires probable cause to be valid. It is well settled that a stop need not be supported by probable cause but only requires a founded suspicion to detain. <u>Terry v.Ohio</u>, 392 U.S. 1, 88 S.Ct. 1868, 20 L.Ed.2d 889 (1968).

Because the stop in <u>Foust</u> may have been valid as supported by a founded suspicion although not probable cause, a conflict does not exist with the instant cause. If Foust was lawfully detained and the officer had probable cause to search him incident to arrest, there would be no basis to suppress the evidence. By contrast, in <u>Frierson</u>, suppression was required because the initial detention was unlawful. Thus, the two cases rely upon different propositions of law to reach divergent outcomes.

Article V, Section 3(b)(4) of the Florida Constitution reads in pertinent part:

The supreme court may review any decision of a district court of appeal ...that is certified by it to be in direct conflict with a decision of another district court of appeal.

In light of this constitutional grant of authority and although a District Court of Appeal certifies that its decision conflicts with a decision of another District Court of Appeal, this court has made its own determination of whether it should exercise its discretion to review the cause . See, <u>King v. State</u>, 790 So. 2d

477 (Fla. 5th DCA 2001), review improvidently granted and dismissed, 820 So. 2d 941 (Fla. 2002); State v. Clark, 770 So. 2d 237 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000) review improvidently granted and dismissed, 804 So. 2d 1247 (Fla. 2001); Sanders v. State, 765 So. 2d 778 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000) review improvidently granted and dismissed, 796 So. 2d 533 (Fla. 2001); State v. Hogan, 753 So. 2d 570 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999) review improvidently granted and dismissed, 775 So. 2d 288 (Fla. 2000); Gulley v. State, 730 So. 2d 386 (Fla. 3d DCA 1999) review improvidently granted and dismissed, 758 So. 2d 635 (Fla. 2000); Curry v. State, 656 So. 2d 521 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995) review improvidently granted and dismissed, 682 So. 2d 1091 (Fla. 1996); State v. Walker, 580 So. 2d 281 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991) review improvidently granted and dismissed, 593 So. 2d 1049 (Fla. 1992).

Conflict jurisdiction only arises where the cases address the same proposition of law. <u>Curry v. State</u>, 682 So. 2d at 1092.

"A conflict might conceivably arise either from adoption of opposing rules or from the application of the same principle to reach a different result upon the same facts." <u>Florida Power & Light Co. v. Bell</u>, 113 So. 2d 697, 698 (Fla. 1959). In those limited circumstances, this court will exercises its jurisdiction to "stabilize the law by a review of decisions which form patently irreconcilable precedents." <u>Id.</u> at 699 As this court

wrote in <u>Ansin v. Thurston</u>, 101 So. 2d 808, 811 (Fla. 1958):

A limitation of review to decisions in 'direct conflict' clearly evinces a concern with decisions as precedents as opposed to adjudications of the rights of particular litigants.

Similar provisions in the court systems of other states have been so construed: 'A conflict of decisions ... must be on a question of law involved and determined, and such that one decision would overrule the other if both were rendered by the same court; in other words, the decisions must be based practically on the same state of facts and announce antagonistic conclusions.' 21 C.J.S. Courts § 462

The <u>Frierson</u> decision would not overrule the precedent set by the Third District Court of Appeal in <u>State v. Foust</u>, 262 So. 2d at 686. To the contrary, when faced with the same circumstances as those at bar, the Third District Court of Appeal of Appeal drew the same conclusion as the Fourth District Court of Appeal. <u>Rozier v. State</u>, 368 So.2d at 379.

Since <u>Foust</u> and <u>Frierson</u> can be easily reconciled, express and direct conflict does not exist. Respondent therefore submits that this court should decline to review the instant cause.

Turning to the character of the warrant, consideration should be given to law enforcement's responsibility to thwart identity theft. The warrant issued when an imposter, not surprisingly, failed to appear in court:

The warrant arose from a uniform traffic

citation issued on April 11, 2001. Officer Keith Gorski of the West Palm Beach Police Department made a traffic stop. The person stopped did not have a driver's license. The person gave Frierson's name, address, and birth date as his own.

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